HINSDALE TOWNSHIP HIGH SCHOOL DISTRICT 86



BETWEEN THE BOARD OF EDUCATION, DISTRICT 86 AND THE HINSDALE HIGH SCHOOL TEACHERS ASSOCIATION, INC. HINSDALE, ILLINOIS

HINSDALE TOWNSHIP HIGH SCHOOL DISTRICT 86

NEGOTIATED CONTRACT

BETWEEN THE
BOARD OF EDUCATION, DISTRICT 86
AND THE
HINSDALE HIGH SCHOOL TEACHERS ASSOCIATION, INC.
HINSDALE, ILLINOIS

Hinsdale Township High School District Number 86 5500 South Grant Street Hinsdale, Illinois 60521 Telephone: (630) 655-6100

2014-2016

CONTRACT

BOARD OF EDUCATION OF DISTRICT 86

AND

HINSDALE HIGH SCHOOL TEACHERS' ASSOCIATION, INCORPORATED

This Contract is made and entered into by and between the Board of Education of Hinsdale Township High School District No. 86 and the Hinsdale High School Teachers' Association, Incorporated.

For the Hinsdale High School Teachers' Association, Inc.

John Bowman, HHSTA President

Jeff Waterman, Chief Negotiator

10/26/14 Date

For the Board of Education of Hinsdale Township High School District 86, DuPage and Cook counties, Illinois

Victor Casini, Secretary

Table of Contents

PREAMBLE	2
ARTICLE 0 Definitions	3
ARTICLE I Recognition	4
ARTICLE II Continuous and Uninterrupted Service	5
ARTICLE III Term of Contract	6
ARTICLE IV Negotiations	7
ARTICLE V Work Day	9
ARTICLE VI Reduction in Employee Staff	12
ARTICLE VII Employees' Personnel Files	15
ARTICLE VIII Length of Work Year	16
ARTICLE IX Association and Teacher Rights	17
ARTICLE X Salary Schedule	22
ARTICLE XI Extra-Curricular Activities	28
ARTICLE XII Summer School	37
ARTICLE XIII Absences and Leaves	39
ARTICLE XIV Grievances.	45
ARTICLE XV Employee Fringe Benefits	48
ARTICLE XVI Supplemental Retirement Program	51
ARTICLE XVII Miscellaneous	54
ARTICLE XVIII Assaults Upon Employees	55
ARTICLE XIX Evaluation	56
ARTICLE XX Severability	57
ARTICLE XXI Vacancies, Promotions, Transfers	58
ARTICLE XXII Entire Agreement	60
ARTICLE XXIII Board Rights	61

PREAMBLE

Recognizing that the prime purpose of the Hinsdale Township High School District 86 (hereinafter "District") is to provide education of the highest quality for the children of the District, we, the undersigned parties to this Agreement, agree to the following principles:

- A. The Board, elected by the citizens of the District, is a public body established under and with duties, powers, responsibilities, and rights provided by the laws of the State of Illinois and the applicable rules and regulations of administrative agencies issued under such laws.
- B. The Superintendent of the District (hereinafter the "Superintendent") is the executive officer of the Board and as such administers and directs the operation of the District in accordance with the policies and decisions of record of the Board.
- C. Although the Employees of the District share with the Board and the Superintendent responsibility for providing to students of the District education of the highest quality consistent with the policies of the Board, the Employees have the major role in direct contact with students.
- D. The Board and Association recognize that the basic duty of each Employee is to use his/her skill and expertise in the most effective and proper manner to improve the quality of education of students enrolled in the District.
- E. The Board and Association acknowledge the importance of cooperation and mutual respect, which enables a professional culture that promotes the best interests of the students.
- F. The Board and Association shall endeavor to provide students an environment of educational excellence that considers the efficient use and sustainability of district resources.
- G. The Board and the Association affirm their continued support of a policy of no discrimination on account of race, religion, color, national origin, ancestry, sex, sexual orientation, marital status, order of protection status, age, military status or disability.

ARTICLE 0 Definitions

- 0.1 "District" as used herein shall mean Hinsdale Township High School District No. 86.
- 0.2 "Board" as used herein shall mean the Board of Education of the District.
- 0.3 "Association" as used herein shall mean Hinsdale High School Teachers Association, Incorporated, IEA/NEA, its officers and members.
- 0.4 "Administration" as used herein shall mean the District Superintendent, assistant superintendents, business manager, principals, assistant principals, deans, athletic directors, directors of guidance and counseling, director of hearing impaired program, director of student assistance programs, department chairmen, and any other personnel within the immediate supervisory jurisdiction of the Superintendent, when they are not instructing in the classroom.
- 0.5 "Employees" as used herein shall mean professional personnel employed by the Board and within the negotiating unit.
- 0.6 "School Year" as used herein shall mean the period beginning with the first day and ending with the last day that Employees are required to be in attendance as established by the approved school calendar.
- 0.7 "JNC" as used herein shall mean the Joint Negotiating Committee, which is composed of the members of the Board Negotiating Committee (not more than seven members) and the members of the Association Negotiating Committee (not more than seven members). An agreed upon number of non-participating observers may be approved by the JNC.
- 0.8 "Assigned Instructional Period" as used herein shall be a period of not less than 50 minutes on a regular daily basis of classroom instruction of students, cafeteria supervision and study hall supervision. In the event the Superintendent releases in writing an Employee on a regular basis from an Assigned Instructional Period in return for an assignment of sponsorship of not less than 50 minutes daily, such released period shall be considered an Assigned Instructional Period for these purposes.

ARTICLE I Recognition

- 1.1 The Board hereby recognizes the Association as the exclusive representative of the following negotiating unit of Employees: all regularly assigned full-time and part-time certificated contractual Employees, except as limited by 1.1.1, but excluding the Superintendent, assistants, principals, assistant principals, deans, division heads, athletic directors, director of hearing impaired program, director of student assistance programs, and any other administrative personnel within the immediate supervisory jurisdiction of the Superintendent and excluding employee substitutes and aides.
 - 1.1.1 The administrative duties and the extra compensation thereof of department chairmen and directors of guidance and counseling shall not be subject to the provisions of this Agreement. For all other purposes, department chairmen and directors of guidance and counseling shall be covered by the Agreement, including, but not limited to, full compensation equal to a full time Employee with equal educational and experience qualifications. The Association shall not represent such department chairmen and directors of guidance and counseling for any assigned administrative duties, the compensation for which shall be determined by the Administration subject to Board approval.
- 1.2 All matters which have been negotiated and agreed to by the parties hereto are set forth in this Contract. This Contract shall be the sole source of the rights of the Association and any Employee covered by this Contract and shall supersede all prior oral or written agreements between the parties.
- 1.3 No agreement, understanding, consideration, or interpretation which alters, varies, waives, or modifies any of the terms or conditions contained herein shall be made with any Employee or group of Employees by the Board or any of the Board's agents or representatives, unless it has been made, ratified, and agreed to in writing by the Board and the Association. Any such agreement shall not constitute a precedent in the future enforcement of any of the terms contained herein.
- 1.4 The terms and conditions of this Agreement shall be reflected in individual Employee contracts.
- 1.5 No action, statement, agreement, settlement, or representation made by any member of the bargaining unit shall impose any obligation or duty or be considered to be authorized by or binding upon the Board unless and until the Board has agreed thereto in writing.

ARTICLE II Continuous and Uninterrupted Service

During the term of this Agreement, neither the Association nor any of the Employees covered by this Agreement will instigate or participate in any strike, sympathy strike, or any other intentional interruption of the operations of the District.

ARTICLE III Term of Contract

This Contract shall be effective as of the 1st day of July, 2014, and shall remain in full force and effect until June 30, 2016.

This Contract shall be automatically renewed from year to year unless either party shall notify the other in writing of its desire to terminate or modify this Contract at least ninety (90) days prior to the expiration date of this Contract, or the expiration date of any renewal term hereof.

If negotiations for a new Agreement have not been completed prior to the beginning of the 2016-2017 School Year, each Employee will be paid for services rendered during the 2016-2017 School Year on the basis of his/her individual base salary, compensation for other assignments (Article XI), and fringe benefits (Article XV) for the 2015-2016 School Year until a settlement has been reached.

ARTICLE IV Negotiations

- 4.1 The initial meeting of the JNC shall be convened no later than sixty (60) days after receipt by either party of written notice from the other party of its readiness to commence negotiations for a successor Agreement. Such notice will be provided in the last year of the current Agreement.
- 4.2 The Board and the Association shall participate in good faith negotiations with respect to salaries, fringe benefits, conditions of employment and grievance procedures at mutually satisfactory times and places.
- 4.3 Prior to any negotiations concerning any change or addition requested by either party, the requesting party shall submit in writing to the other party the proposed language of the new, amended or modified Article or subdivision to be included in this Contract. As each proposal or deletion thereof is tentatively agreed upon by both Negotiation Committees, the respective Chairman will sign a written copy of each of the agreed upon Articles or subdivisions or the withdrawal of the notice of the party's desire to terminate, modify or amend an Article or subdivision, as the case may be, prior to the adjournment of the meeting. In the case of withdrawal, the original Article or subdivision shall remain in full force and effect as though no notice had been given in respect thereto.
- 4.4 When all requested changes or additions to the Contract have been resolved, either by withdrawal or other agreement, the entire package of agreed to changes or modifications to the Contract shall be submitted to the Association and Board membership by the respective Negotiating Committees, recommending its acceptance. Upon ratification of the tentative agreement by the Association, the Association will notify the Board Negotiating Committee who shall then present the tentative agreement to the Board for ratification. Upon approval by both the Board and the Association, the modified and/or amended Contract shall be immediately signed by both parties.
- 4.5 Should either party fail to ratify the entire package as provided in Article 4.4, then only those issues previously negotiated by the parties shall be subject to further negotiations. Negotiations will be resumed at a mutually agreeable time.
- 4.6 If agreement is not reached within forty-five (45) days of the scheduled start of the forthcoming school year, either Committee may thereafter declare to the other in writing that an impasse exists and call for a mediator. If this occurs, the JNC shall request the Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service to appoint a mediator from its staff to assist the parties. The mediator shall meet with the Committees, either jointly or separately, and shall take such steps as may be appropriate to assist the parties in resolving their differences. The mediator shall have no authority to make any findings of fact or recommend terms of settlement unless both parties request in writing that the mediator perform such functions.

4.7	When both parties have executed the agreed-upon Contract, the Board shall prepare an distribute to all Employees a copy thereof. Thirty (30) additional copies per Contract Year shall be given to the Association.			

ARTICLE V Work Day

- 5.1 The Basic Work Day of full-time Employees shall consist of eight consecutive clock hours which shall minimally include thirty minutes of duty free time for lunch. In the performance of their professional duties, Employees shall be present a minimum of fifteen (15) minutes before the start of the first instructional period and a minimum of fifteen (15) minutes after the end of the last instructional period each day. On Fridays and on the last school day prior to school vacations and holidays included in the school calendar, Employees will be permitted to leave school ten (10) minutes after the end of the last instructional period of that school day.
 - 5.1.1 Each full-time instructional Employee shall be assigned a maximum of five Assigned Periods on a regular basis. As long as the best interests of the District's educational program are not adversely affected, the Administration will try to avoid assigning full-time Employees on a regular basis to two or more student supervision periods. Any Assigned Period in excess of five on a regular basis shall be compensated as provided in Article X.
 - Each full-time instructional Employee, absent unusual circumstances such as test proctoring, assemblies, pep rallies, and accrediting and evaluating visitations shall have at least two (2) periods equal in length to two (2) instructional periods during each full student attendance School Day for preparation purposes. Each day, each Employee will be available to meet with students and parents to provide academic or other assistance to students. The time and location for such assistance will be scheduled with the students and/or parents.
 - 5.1.2.1 Full-time Employees shall not be assigned supervisory duties out of doors without their consent.
 - 5.1.3 Employees are expected to devote substantially all non-assigned time during the Basic Work Day to activities related to classroom instruction or professional responsibilities. Employees shall not engage in activities concerning outside occupational interests, excluding their duty free lunch, during the Basic Work Day. Employees may be permitted to leave the building during non-assigned time provided they have received permission from the principal, assistant principal or their designees. Permission will not be unreasonably or arbitrarily denied.
 - 5.1.4 The Administration may modify the Basic Work Day for one day each semester for Parent-Teacher Conferences and one day in the first quarter for Open House in order to schedule hours convenient to parents. Parent-Teacher Conferences and Open Houses shall end no later than approximately 9:00 pm.
 - 5.1.5 An Employee may request to start his/her basic eight consecutive hour workday earlier than the regularly scheduled starting time. Any Employee whose request for a modified schedule is approved shall nevertheless be responsible for

attending any faculty meetings, Parent-Teacher Conferences, Open Houses, etc., that may be scheduled.

5.1.6 An Employee shall be consulted prior to being assigned to teach more than three consecutive class periods.

5.1.7 "Late Start" Days

A minimum of nine (9) days per year shall be designated "Late Start" days. The schedule for such days shall be as follows:

- 7:30 a.m. 9:30 a.m. teachers and administrators engage together in professional development to improve instruction.
- 9:30 a.m. 10:00 a.m. teachers prepare their classrooms for instruction.
- 10:00 a.m. 3:00 p.m. student attendance

The Administration will make every reasonable effort to distribute these days equitably between grading periods.

- 5.2 Unless excused by the Administration, Employees shall attend all meetings scheduled by the Administration outside the Basic Work Day. No meeting shall be scheduled for Saturday, Sunday, Vacation, or Holidays. These meetings shall include, but not be limited to, student conferences, parent conferences, departmental building and District meetings. Where possible, Administration shall give Employees three (3) days prior notice of such meetings. Such "meetings" do not include any extracurricular paid duties which are covered by other provisions.
 - 5.2.1 In the event there is a need for scheduled departmental, building or District meetings to extend outside the Basic Work Day, "Extra time" shall be computed from the time the Employee is scheduled to be at a meeting until the time Employee is permitted to leave. Where the Administration modifies the Basic Work Day for Parent-Teacher Conferences, the time for such Parent-Teacher Conferences shall not be considered Extra Time. Extra Time shall be computed to the nearest one-half hour.
 - 5.2.2 In the event any Employee is required to attend meetings as defined in 5.2 that total Extra Time in excess of ten (10) hours per School Year, such Employee shall receive compensatory time off in an amount that equals the Extra Time in excess of 10 hours. Such compensatory time must be taken in increments of not less than 30 minutes and in the time period occurring between such Employee's seventh period and the end of such Employee's Basic Work Day, provided, however, that for non-instructional employees the Administration shall try, within reason, to schedule compensatory time, if requested, in larger blocks of time (e.g., one-half day). Employees must give their department chairman one day's prior written notice of their intent to take compensatory time. Compensatory time may not be taken if a meeting or other professional assignment is scheduled for that time.

- 5.2.3 To deal with the unique situation involving counselors, counselors who are required to attend evening meetings directly related to their duties and responsibilities as counselors which other Employees are not required to attend shall receive compensatory time for all hours so worked. Absent reasonable educational needs which would justify more, no individual counselor shall be required to attend more than fifteen (15) evening meetings (i.e., meetings which commence after the end of the basic work day) which directly relate to his/her duties and responsibilities as a counselor which non-counselors are not required to attend. Any such compensatory time shall be scheduled as mutually agreed by the counselor and the Principal or designee, with the understanding that compensatory time may not be used to extend vacation periods.
- 5.2.4 In the event earned compensatory time is not taken by the Employee during the Work Year, a maximum of twenty-five (25) hours of compensatory time may be carried over to the following school year. In the event that the twenty-five (25) hours of compensatory time carried over to the following school year are not used in that following school year, the carried over compensatory time shall be forfeited and no longer available for use.
- 5.2.5 Special education teachers and the Special Education Department Chair will work together to build time into special education teachers' work year for case management duties and for co-planning time with regular education teachers.
- 5.3 If there is a need for internal substitutes, the Administration shall first seek volunteers within the absent person's department. If there are not sufficient number of volunteers, Employees may be assigned by the Administration as internal substitutes but only during periods when they do not have an assigned class of their own. The assignments of Employees on an involuntary basis shall be done on a fair and equitable basis. The rate of pay for internal substitution per class period shall be \$38.44 for the 2014-2015 School Year and \$38.84 for the 2015-2016 School Year.
- No regularly scheduled instructional period will begin before 7:00 a.m. nor end after 3:30 p.m. without the consent of the assigned Employee.

ARTICLE VI Reduction in Employee Staff

- 6.1 In the event the Board determines that there shall be a reduction in the Employee staff, the Administration shall determine the staffing requirements on a department-by-department District-wide basis in accordance with the curriculum offered, the projected registration requirements of the students and the directive of the Board. The reduction of full-time Employees in each department in which there is to be reduction shall be in the following order provided that retained Employees in each department are qualified to teach the subject, as described in the current Illinois Program for Evaluation, Supervision and Recognition of Schools (formerly SBE #1) to be offered. Qualified as used herein shall mean meeting the current certification standards or North Central Association suggested standards, whichever is higher.
 - 6.1.1 Employees shall be released in the sequence provided by Section 24.12 of the Illinois School Code (105 ILCS 5/24-12).
 - 6.1.2 Employees in groups 3 or 4 of the sequence of honorable dismissal list shall be reduced on the basis of seniority points, those with the fewest seniority points being released first, provided that prior to the reduction the retained Employees have previously taught the subject in the District, as defined by the current Illinois Program for Evaluation, Supervision and Recognition of Schools and, if retained in a department different than the current assignment, have been determined by the Administration to currently possess the necessary skills and abilities to meet the District's performance expectations to teach the subject matter in the other department. Additional education or training may be required to teach in another department. Seniority points shall be awarded as follows:
 - 6.1.2.1 0.5 point for each full School Year employed by the District.
 - 6.1.2.2 0.5 point for each full School Year in the Department.
 - 6.1.2.2.1 In the event Employee has been assigned to two or more departments prior to the reduction, the points earned under 6.1.2.2 since employed by the District shall be used in both departments.
 - 6.1.2.3 Four Points for a master's degree in the subject matter taught or in the field of education. These points shall be used only after four (4) years' service in the District.
 - 6.1.2.4 Eight points for a doctorate degree in the subject matter taught or four points for a doctorate degree in the field of education. These points shall be used only after four (4) years' service in the District.

- 6.1.2.5 0.2 points, maximum, for each school year in which Employee has sponsored or coached at least one extra-curricular activity and/or for each summer school term taught. 0.1 points will be given for coaching a single sport or sponsorship of any activity lasting a semester or less and/or each summer school semester course taught. 0.2 points will be given for coaching more than one sport or sponsoring a year-long activity.
- 6.1.3 If two or more Employees otherwise have equal seniority and one or more is to be honorably dismissed, seniority order shall be determined by, in order:
 - 6.1.3.1 Most teaching experience in the Employee's current area of assignment in this District.
 - 6.1.3.2 Highest earned degree.
 - 6.1.3.3 Most credit hours beyond the degree.
 - 6.1.3.4 Lot.
- 6.1.4 Seniority lists and sequence of honorable dismissal lists are to be distributed to the Association no later than seventy-five (75) calendar days before the last student attendance day of each school year. Criteria for developing these lists shall include:
 - 6.1.4.1 The current year's activities and degrees will be included in calculating the number of seniority points. Only those degrees earned by the first day of the school year and for which documentation is submitted to the District by December 1 will be included. In addition, activities to be supervised throughout the current school year will be included, with the understanding that corrections will be made for any changes which may occur subsequent to the distribution of the seniority lists.
 - 6.1.4.2 Only Employees working more than 135 days will be granted seniority credit for that school year.
 - 6.1.4.3 Part-time Employees in the negotiating unit will accrue seniority points in proportion to the time worked. <u>Example</u>: An Employee who is employed to teach two classes will accrue 40% of the seniority points that a full-time Employee would receive under 6.1.2.1 and 6.1.2.2.
 - 6.1.4.4 Credit for coaching or supervising an activity will be given only during the time Employees are in the negotiating unit.
 - 6.1.4.4. Credit for coaching or supervising an activity will be given only during the time Employees are in the negotiating unit.

- 6.1.4.5 Part-time Employees in the negotiating unit will earn seniority points under Section 6.1.2.5.
- 6.1.4.6 Whereas administrators who are not in the negotiating unit will not be listed on any seniority list, it is understood that such administrators who hold tenure as teachers in the District earn seniority points for full school year that they are employed by the District in accordance with subsection 6.1.2.1, as well as retain any seniority points they earned if they were previously employed by the District in a position included in the negotiation unit.
- Within one year after the reduction, should the Board increase the number of Employees or if an Employee resigns or if by other reason a vacancy is created, re-employment shall be offered to reduced teachers in accordance with the provisions of Section 24-12 of the Illinois School Code (105 ILCS 5/24-12) provided the Employee is qualified according to 6.1, 6.1.2 and 6.1.3 to fill such vacancy.
 - 6.2.1 The Board shall notify the reduced Employee of the re-employment offer by registered letter addressed to the last address provided by the Employee. The reduced Employee shall notify the Board within seven (7) calendar days from the date of receipt of his/her intention to accept the offer of employment. If an Employee fails to notify the Board, the Employee shall forfeit all rights under Article 6.2 and will no longer be eligible for recall.
 - 6.2.2 Employees will be eligible for any vacant position for which they are qualified at the time of notice of vacancy. Employees are required to inform the office of the Superintendent of any changes in their qualifications after the date of their termination.
 - 6.2.3 An Employee may elect to be passed over one time, due to being under a non-breakable employment contract in another school district. In this case the Employee retains his/her position on the recall list and the Board will offer the position to the next most senior qualified Employee.
 - 6.2.4 Temporary positions will be first offered to Employees with recall rights in the same order as for permanent positions. Acceptance of a temporary position will not affect the recall rights of Employees.
 - 6.2.5 Seniority, accumulated sick leave, and salary schedule position will be retained until recall.
- 6.3 Employees who are on an approved leave of absence shall be subject to this Article.
- 6.4 It is expressly agreed that this Article will not be interpreted or applied so as to impair the operation of any affirmative action program of the Board.

ARTICLE VII Employees' Personnel Files

- 7.1 Employee's personnel file shall be maintained in the Administrative Office.
 - 7.1.1 All materials placed in the Employee's file subsequent to the Employee's employment shall be available for inspection provided the Personnel Office receives at least three (3) working days' written or email notice prior to the inspection. A representative of the Association or independent counsel may accompany the Employee if the Employee so advises the Personnel Office in the notice.
 - 7.1.2 Any material originating after employment in the District which is evaluative in nature shall be reviewed with the Employee prior to placement in Employee's personnel file and a copy of such material shall be given to Employee.
 - 7.1.3 Within twenty (20) Employee working days (excluding summer school) of the placement of evaluative material in an Employee's personnel file, such Employee shall have the right to submit to the Personnel Office an answer to such material in writing and such answer shall immediately be placed in the Employee's personnel file.
- 7.2 In the event an Employee disciplinary hearing is held by the Board, a committee of the Board Members, or the Administration upon instruction by the Board, the Employee shall be given reasonable prior written notice of the nature of the charges. The Employee shall have the right at such hearing to be represented by the Association or independent counsel.
 - 7.2.1 If a criminal charge is brought against an Employee and the charge is dismissed or the Employee is subsequently found not guilty, the Board shall thereafter delete from the Employee's personnel file within five (5) working days any specific reference to the criminal charge and shall not rely on said criminal charge in any other proceeding.
 - 7.2.2 In the event a disciplinary charge is brought against an Employee by any other person and the Employee is subsequently cleared of the charge in a disciplinary hearing, all reference to the charge will be removed from the Employee's file within five (5) working days thereafter.

ARTICLE VIII Length of Work Year

The length of the school year shall not exceed 185 working days, excluding any day originally scheduled as a working day which is canceled because the Superintendent determines there is an emergency (e.g., snow day) and further excluding three (3) orientation days for all new Employees prior to opening of school. Four (4) of the 185 working days shall be institute or professional development days.

ARTICLE IX Association and Teacher Rights

- 9.1 The District will convene an inservice committee to establish program content and schedules for teacher institutes and workshops. The inservice committee will include [1/2] teachers, [1/4] school service personnel and [1/4] administrators.
- 9.2 The Association will be provided time to participate in new Employee orientations and the first Institute Day for the purpose of introducing Association leaders and explaining the Association's programs and services. Such meetings shall be scheduled by mutual agreement.
 - 9.2.1 Association meetings may be held starting fifteen minutes after the last instructional period of the school day.
- 9.3 The Association will be provided with office space in each high school building reserved for the purpose of conducting internal Association business.
- 9.4 Upon request of the Association and upon approval of the appropriate building principal, the Association shall be granted permission to use District buildings at reasonable times which will not interfere with or interrupt school operations to transact official Association business, provided such approval shall not be arbitrarily withheld.
- 9.5 The Association President or his/her designee shall have the right to communicate with Employees covered by this agreement using the available resources (including but not limited to mailboxes, telephones, and e-mail) about legitimate Association activities.
- 9.6 Upon reasonable request, the Association will be permitted to have materials duplicated on District duplicating equipment, provided that the Association shall pay a reasonable charge for such duplicating services.
- 9.7 The Association will be provided with a maximum of one hundred eighty (180) hours of released time per year for the purpose of conducting Association business. Hours used in excess of 120 shall require the Association to reimburse the District for the cost of any substitute required, provided such reimbursement shall be at the rate for external substitutes pro-rated to the day or period(s) used. Released time used will, wherever possible, be scheduled to minimize the impact on students. The appropriate Association representative shall submit to the building principal a request in writing at least two (2) working days prior to the desired use of this time. For the purposes of this section only, one day shall equal 7-1/2 hours. Additionally, the Association President shall have released time beyond the 180 hours for purposes of meeting regularly with the Superintendent and Building Administration to discuss issues of mutual concern. Such additional released time will be scheduled by mutual agreement of the Superintendent, Building Administration and Association President or designee.

9.8 Whenever a conference between an Employee and an administrator is held in which there is a discussion of a potential disciplinary action (e.g., termination, dismissal, suspension, or a written reprimand that is to be part of the Employee's personnel file), the Employee shall have the right to have an Association representative present upon request.

Employees will be given notice of such conferences at least one (1) business day prior to the conference in order to arrange for Association representation. Such prior notice shall be given in writing or by e-mail and include the topic of the conference. If the Administration and the Employee agree, the conference may occur sooner than one (1) business days after notice of the conference is given to the Employee. Should an emergency necessitate less than one (1) business days' notice, the Administrator conducting the conference will inform the Employee of his/her right to Association representation before conducting the conference and, if Association representation is requested, wait for that representation to arrive before continuing the conference. A conference to discuss an Employee's evaluation shall not be construed as the discussion of a potential disciplinary action.

- 9.9 In order to maximize the creative resources of the District, promote shared leadership and enhance collaboration, annual and ad hoc committees may be established from time to time. To maximize meaningful collaborative efforts, each committee shall be established by mutual agreement as follows:
 - 9.9.1 At least ten (10) business days prior to convening any committee, the responsible Administrator and Association President(s), or designee(s), will meet to discuss the following committee requirements:
 - Type of committee (annual or ad hoc);
 - Specific charge/purpose;
 - Estimated number/frequency of meetings;
 - Suggested timeline for completing committee work;
 - An articulation of the number of committee members and the process for their selection, provided that 50% of the bargaining unit members of any committee will be chosen by the Association Representative;
 - Statement of committee authority (i.e. decisional or advisory); and
 - Specification of resources needed, if any, for the committee to function.

As a result of this meeting, a written record of the above requirements shall be collaboratively agreed to and posted on the District intranet.

- 9.9.2 Each committee will be required, as part of its charge and work, to:
 - Specify whether committee recommendations have the potential to affect teacher working conditions;
 - Include an evaluation component to assess possible implementation of committee recommendations if adopted; and

 Publish minutes of all committee meetings including roll-call of those in attendance.

A copy of the above information shall be shared with the Association President or posted on the District intranet.

- 9.9.3 Each committee will be required to use a collaborative decision-making model. To that end, it may be necessary to provide training in collaborative problem solving techniques.
- 9.9.4 Work done in sub-committee shall be subject to agreement of the committee of the whole.
- 9.9.5 Committee Duration: Committees shall exist until their specific charge/purpose is complete. Committees that have not completed their specific charge/purpose by the end of the school year shall be reevaluated at the beginning of the following school year by the responsible Administrator and Association President(s) or his or her designee, as stated in 9.9.1.
- 9.10 The Board shall, from time to time in response to reasonable written requests, furnish (electronically whenever possible) information which may be necessary for the Association to process a grievance or to otherwise fulfill its obligations as the exclusive bargaining representative of the Employees covered by this Agreement, provided that nothing herein shall require the Board to collate or compile data. The Association agrees to reimburse the Board for the reasonable cost of copying documents in response to Association requests.
- 9.11 Non-employee representatives of the Association shall be permitted to transact Association business on school property involving Employees covered by this Agreement, provided any such non-employee representatives shall advise the school office of their presence upon entering the building. While on school property, non-employee representatives shall not interrupt or interfere with normal school activities.
- 9.12 Association Officership Leave. An unpaid leave of absence of up to three (3) years shall be granted to any tenured teacher upon application for the purpose of serving in an elective office in the National Education Association or the Illinois Education Association. Seniority, accumulated sick leave, and salary schedule position will be retained upon return from such a leave.
- 9.13 Academic Freedom. The Board will publish in the Faculty Handbook each year the Board's policy concerning academic freedom as it then exists. The Board's policy concerning academic freedom shall not be subject to the grievance procedure set forth in this Agreement (Article XIV).
- 9.14 Discipline. Enforcement of discipline (e.g., suspension without pay and a written reprimand) shall be for just cause. It is specifically agreed that this section shall not

apply to a decision by the Board to terminate or dismiss an Employee where the Employee has the right to a hearing pursuant to the hearing officer provisions of the School Code or to a decision by the Board to terminate or not renew the contract of an Employee who has not attained tenure and either such decision shall not be subject to the grievance and arbitration procedure set forth in this Agreement.

- 9.15 Association Officers. Provided the Board is notified by March 1 of the names of the Association Officers for the following School Year, the Board will make every reasonable effort to schedule one preparation period for the Officers at the same approximate time.
- Fair Share. During the term of this Agreement, employees who are not members of the 9.16 Association shall, commencing thirty (30) days after their employment or thirty (30) days after the effective date of this Agreement, whichever is later, pay a fair share fee to the Association for collective bargaining and contract administration services rendered by the Association as the exclusive representative of the employees covered by said Agreement, provided fair share fee shall not exceed the dues attributable to being a member of the Hinsdale High School Teachers Association (including the Illinois Education Association and the National Education Association). Such fair share fees shall be deducted by the Board from the earnings of non-members and remitted to the Association. Association shall annually submit to the Board a list of the employees covered by this Agreement who are not members of the Association and a statement of the amount of the fair share fee. The foregoing provision shall not apply to any teacher employed during the 1992-93 school year and who is not a member of the Association on June 1, 1993; provided, however, that it shall apply to teachers who are members on the effective date of this Agreement and who thereafter become non-members.

The Association agrees to assume full responsibility to insure full compliance with the requirements laid down by the United States Supreme Court in such cases as Chicago Teachers Union v. Hudson, 105 U.S. 1066 (1986), with respect to the constitutional rights of fair share fee payors. While the Board's compliance with its obligations under this Article are subject to the grievance and arbitration procedure, it is specifically agreed that any dispute concerning the amount of the fair share fee and/or the responsibilities of the Association with respect to fair share fee payors as set forth in this paragraph shall not be subject to the grievance and arbitration procedure set forth in this Agreement.

Non-members who object to this fair share fee based upon bona fide religious tenets or teachings shall pay an amount equal to such fair share fee to a non-religious charitable organization mutually selected by the affected non-member from an approved list of charitable organizations established by the Illinois Educational Labor Relations Board and the payment shall be made to said organization.

The Association shall indemnify and hold harmless the Board, its members, officers, agents and administrators from and against any and all claims, demands, actions, complaints, suits or other forms of liability (monetary or otherwise) that arise out of or by reason of any action taken or not taken by the Board for the purpose of complying with

the above provisions of this Article, or in reliance on any list, notice, certification, affidavit, or assignment furnished under any of such provisions. The Board shall promptly notify the Association if there is any lawsuit or other legal challenge to the provisions of this Article and the Association, upon such notice being given, shall have the right to designate legal counsel to defend such action. This indemnification provision shall not extend to errors that are solely the fault of the Board.

ARTICLE X Salary Schedule

- 10.1 Attached at the end of this Article are salary schedules for the 2014-2015 and 2015-2016 school years. All Employees shall be placed on the applicable salary schedule in accordance with the following conditions:
 - 10.1.1 All Employees without previous teaching experience shall be placed on Step 1.
 - 10.1.2 All Employees with teaching experience shall be placed upon the step which shall correspond to the years of full-time teaching experience within the District plus one. Starting with the 2014-2015 School Year any school year(s) in which the Employee has not been rated "Proficient" or "Excellent" shall be subtracted therefrom.
 - 10.1.3 The number of years of full-time teaching experience in other districts, if any, which the Board has accepted upon hiring of such Employee shall be added to 10.1.2.
 - 10.1.4 Unless qualified for an advanced lane, Employees shall be assigned to the B.A. lane.
 - 10.1.5 If an Employee has submitted to the Administration prior to July 1 of any Contract Year a letter of expectation concerning his/her advancement to a higher lane, he/she shall be advanced, after submitting from accredited college or university proof of:
 - 10.1.5.1 Receipt of a Graduate degree at the Master's level in a discipline approved by the Superintendent to the M.A. lane.
 - 10.1.5.2 Thirty semester hours of graduate credit over and above his/her M.A. degree in courses having received prior written approval by the Superintendent to the M.A.+30 lane.
 - 10.1.5.3 Receipt of an earned Doctorate degree, in his/her field, or 60 semester hours of graduate credit over and above his/her M.A. degree in courses having received prior written approval by the Superintendent, to the Ph.D./ M.A.+60 lane. Semester hours of graduate credit above 30 will only be counted if approved and earned after September 1, 1984.
 - 10.1.5.4 In counting the number of hours over and above an Employee's M.A. for purposes of both Sections 10.1.5.2 and 10.1.5.3, effective at the commencement of the 1996-97 school year, where an approved program for a Master's degree requires course work beyond a normal Master's degree program (i.e., beyond 33 semester hours), upon receipt of the Master's

degree, the Employee shall be given credit for any required semester hours beyond the 33 needed to obtain the Master's degree. <u>Example:</u> If an approved Master's degree program requires 49 semester hours, after the Employee receives the Master's degree, the 16 additional credit hours shall be counted towards the number of credit hours needed over and above the M.A. in order to move to the M.A.+30 lane or to the Ph.D./M.A.+60 lane.

10.1.5.5 For the purpose of advancement on the salary schedule, up to six (6) hours of graduate credit may be earned for District-designated Hinsdale District 86 Academy Workshops. One semester of graduate credit will be granted for each fifteen (15) hours of workshop contact and upon successful completion of all workshop requirements. Hinsdale Academy hours taken prior to the awarding of a Master's degree may be applied to the post-Master's lane change (MA + 30) if the academy workshop was taken while the employee was simultaneously enrolled in a District pre-approved Master's degree program.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, semester hours of non-graduate credit may be utilized for lane advancement if they have received prior written approval by the Superintendent based on his determination that such non-graduate credit hours will be of direct and substantial benefit to the Employee's professional assignment and will distinctly benefit the District. Any Employee seeking such approval shall submit to the Superintendent a full and complete statement of the reasons why the hours in question ought to be considered for approval. The parties understand that this is a narrow exception and that normally only semester hours of graduate credit will be considered for approval for lane advancement.

- 10.1.6 Only employees who are or will be in the BA+15 lane as of the 2014-2015 school year will be permitted to continue to advance vertically up to step 10 in that lane. Only those employees currently in the boxed area (i.e., shaded area) of the BA lane may remain on steps 7-12. No other employees will be permitted to move into the boxed area of either BA or BA+15 lane. Otherwise, the BA lane steps 7-12 and the BA+15 lane shall be eliminated.
- 10.2 The increase in compensation resulting from a lane advancement in 10.1.5 shall be retroactive to the beginning of the semester in which official transcripts thereof is submitted, provided that the courses completed and/or degrees earned were completed prior to the beginning of such semester. In all other instances, the lane advancement shall be made effective at the beginning of the semester immediately following the submission of the necessary official transcripts.
 - 10.2.1 Employees with a B.A. or B.A.+15 who have been retained at Step 12, upon earning an M.A. will be advanced to Step 13.
- 10.3 Employees new to the District shall be given credit for lane assignment in accordance

- with 10.1.5, provided such credit is noted on the Employee's application and proof thereof is placed on file with the Superintendent at the time of his/her employment and accepted by the Board.
- 10.4 The stipulated cash amount of each Employee's contract will represent remuneration for the total number of days as per approved school calendar, including teacher-pupil contact days, institutes, workshops, and any other days which the Board may declare as school holidays. Any deviation not authorized by the Superintendent from this calendar by an Employee will result in a pro-rata modification, such compensation based upon the total number of days in the school calendar.
- 10.5 The first paycheck of the School Year shall be issued to the Employee on August 31, and thereafter, at the option of the Employee, in 9 or 11 equal installments on the last day of each calendar month. Once an Employee chooses a payment plan, that plan shall remain in effect unless a change is requested by June 1 of the preceding school year and approved by the Superintendent or designee. The gross amount of the first paycheck shall be one-tenth or one-twelfth of the basic salary of the Employee. Should the last day of any month fall on a day of non-attendance, every effort shall be made to issue that month's paycheck on the last attendance day prior to the last (except in June and July if the Employee has selected the twelve month option).
- 10.6 Employees assigned in excess of five (5) Assigned Instructional Periods on a regular basis shall receive additional compensation at the rate of .1 times his/her annual salary, exclusive of extra duty pay, for each semester for each period in excess of five (5) Assigned Instructional Periods.
- 10.7 Part-time instructional Employees, i.e., those Employees regularly assigned four (4) or less periods per school day, shall be compensated at the rate of .1 times the salary schedule amount for the appropriate step and rank for each semester for each Assigned Instructional Period.
- 10.8 Commencing with the 2006-2007 school year, a teacher shall receive an annual stipend of \$1,000 for each of the following:
 - 1) A PhD degree in a content area;
 - 2) A content area Master's degree:
 - 3) A second content area Master's degree;
 - 4) Attaining National Board certification.

The maximum annual stipend available is \$3,000.

For purposes of implementing this provision, the term "content area" is defined as follows:

- a) the degree must be in the employee's present department; and
- b) the degree must be issued in a content area department, outside of the education

- department, by a college or university; and
- c) at least 24 hours toward the degree must be earned in the core content area (not education related courses).

Annually, the Superintendent or designee may identify other degrees in areas for which there is no relevant "content area." A list of such degrees will be published annually in September on the District intranet website.

Eligibility for this stipend(s) will be determined by the Assistant Superintendent based upon review of the teacher's transcript and recommendation of the Human Resources Department. Teachers denied the stipend(s) may appeal the decision to the Superintendent.

Teachers who received stipend(s) during the 2005-2006 year and those teachers who received administrative approval of their second Master's program prior to June 30, 2006, shall not be subject to the above rules other than the \$3,000 maximum stipend.

Evidence of the completion of the degree/certification must be provided to the Assistant Superintendent no later than September 1. Payment of the stipend will be made in a lump sum in October (January for National Board Certification).

Salary Schedule 2014-15					
STEP	ВА	BA+15	MA	MA+30	MA+60
1	\$52,913	\$55,627	\$59,698		
2	\$54,948	\$57,661	\$62,750		
3	\$56,984	\$59,698	\$65,802	\$69,873	\$75,695
4	\$59,020	\$61,732	\$68,855	\$72,925	\$78,749
5	\$61,054	\$63,768	\$71,907	\$75,978	\$81,339
6	\$63,089	\$65,802	\$74,961	\$79,031	\$84,030
7	\$64,447	\$67,159	\$78,014	\$82,083	\$86,831
8	\$64,447	\$69,194	\$81,066	\$85,136	\$89,734
9	\$66,655	\$71,024	\$84,118	\$88,189	\$92,755
10	\$69,419	\$73,809	\$87,171	\$91,241	\$95,893
11	\$72,346	\$76,713	\$90,224	\$94,294	\$99,155
12	\$77,335	\$79,685	\$93,277	\$97,347	\$102,540
13			\$96,329	\$100,400	\$106,058
14			\$99,382	\$103,561	\$109,716
15			\$102,435	\$107,363	\$113,519
16			\$105,487	\$111,306	\$117,461
17			\$109,254	\$115,409	\$121,563
18			\$112,834	\$118,988	\$125,145
19				\$122,381	\$127,535
OFF YR 1	\$78,245	\$80,623	\$114,161	\$123,820	\$129,035
60% of CPI 1.7% on schedule; 1.7% off-schedule					

Notes:

- 1. Any employee currently in the BA+15 lane may continue to progress through step 10 until they have completed a Master's Degree.
- 2. No employees currently not in BA+15 may enter the lane.
- 3. Employees currently in the BA lane will be considered off-schedule after step 6 starting in 2015-2016.
- 4. Employees currently off-schedule in the BA lane will continue to progress by contractual off-schedule rules.

Salary Schedule 2015-16					
STEP	ВА	BA+15	MA	MA+30	MA+60
1	\$53,469	\$56,211	\$60,325		
2	\$55,525	\$58,267	\$63,408		
3	\$57,583	\$60,325	\$66,493	\$70,606	\$76,490
4	\$59,640	\$62,381	\$69,578	\$73,691	\$79,576
5	\$61,696	\$64,437	\$72,662	\$76,776	\$82,193
6	\$63,751	\$66,493	\$75,748	\$79,861	\$84,913
7	\$65,123	\$67,864	\$78,833	\$82,945	\$87,742
8	\$65,123	\$69,920	\$81,917	\$86,030	\$90,676
9	\$67,355	\$71,770	\$85,002	\$89,115	\$93,728
10	\$70,148	\$74,584	\$88,086	\$92,199	\$96,900
11	\$73,106	\$77,518	\$91,171	\$95,284	\$100,196
12	\$78,147	\$80,521	\$94,256	\$98,369	\$103,617
13			\$97,340	\$101,454	\$107,171
14			\$100,426	\$104,648	\$110,868
15			\$103,511	\$108,490	\$114,711
16			\$106,595	\$112,475	\$118,694
17			\$110,401	\$116,621	\$122,840
18			\$114,019	\$120,238	\$126,459
19				\$123,666	\$128,874
OFF YR					
2	\$64,035				
OFF YR	670 405	¢00.000	6444 505	6424.246	6420.440
OFF YR	\$78,495	\$80,880	\$114,527	\$124,216	\$129,448
1	\$79,419	\$81.832	\$115,874	\$125 677	\$130,970
70% of CPI 1.5% on schedule; 1.5% off-schedule					
7070 OF CITE 1.370 OFF SCHEUUIE, 1.370 OFF-SCHEUUIE					

Notes:

- 1. Any employee currently in the BA+15 lane may continue to progress through step 10 until they have completed a Master's Degree.
- 2. No employees currently not in BA+15 may enter the lane.
- 3. Employees currently in the BA lane will be considered off-schedule after step 6 starting in 2015-2016.
- 4. Employees currently off-schedule in the BA lane will continue to progress by contractual off-schedule rules.

ARTICLE XI Extra-Curricular Activities

- 11.1 The Board has authorized certain extra-curricular positions. The fact that these positions have been authorized does not require the Administration to make assignments to staff such positions. In the event that the Administration does assign Employees to any of these positions, such Employees shall be compensated at the rate set forth in 11.4. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Employees who have been employed in extra-curricular positions for at least 10 different school years have the right to refuse an extra-curricular assignment; unless it is determined that another qualified Employee is not available for the assignment.
 - 11.1.1 The assignment of all extra-curricular positions will be distributed among Employees on a fair and equitable basis.
 - 11.1.2 Employees will be given the first opportunity to be assigned extra-curricular and athletic positions, including those duties listed in 11.3. Employees interested in such assignments should apply as noted in the position posting.

However, positions held by non-bargaining unit employees during 2006-07 may continue to be staffed from outside the bargaining unit provided the non-bargaining unit employee is more qualified than bargaining unit members to hold such positions.

11.2 Special activities of groups and organizations requiring Employees' services during nonschool time, but excluding the compensated sponsors of such group, shall be compensated on the following basis:

11.2.1

School Year	Up to 4 hours	Over 4 hours	Over 6 hours	Overnight
		to 6 hours		
2014-15	\$72.69	\$109.05	\$145.40	\$235.61
2015-16	\$73.45	\$110.20	\$146.93	\$238.08

- 11.2.1.1 The activities shall have prior approval by the building principal.
- 11.2.1.2 An Extra Duty Payroll form shall be completed by the Employee and signed by the building principal after the activity has been completed.
- 11.2.1.3 Overnight trips include only trips within the continental United States, and Employees will not be compensated for more than three (3) nights. Such trips require prior approval from the Superintendent or designee.

11.3 Employees who accept assignments as ticket sellers, ticket takers or related responsibilities at athletic events will be paid at the rate of \$72.69 for the 2014-2015 School Year and \$73.45 for the 2015-16 School Year

11.4 <u>Compensation for Extra-Curricular Assignments</u>

The following index schedule will be the basis of payment for the various positions listed. Any new positions authorized by the Board will be placed in the appropriate category. Newly employed/assigned teachers may be given credit for out-of-district activity sponsorship as recommended by the Administration. Employees assigned for sponsorship of part of an activity will be paid on a pro rata basis for the amount of time involved.

- 11.4.1 In cases where sponsors share a single increment, each sponsor will receive a proportional share of the increment.
- 11.4.2 Experience in a selected activity may be applied to a new assignment if in the opinion of the Administration there are experiences in the first activity which relate to the second activity.
- 11.4.3 Absent extraordinary circumstances and the Superintendent's approval, no Employee may hold both a primary sponsor role and an assistant sponsor role simultaneously in the same activity.
- 11.4.4 For the 2014-15 and 2015-16 School Years, stipends will be calculated using a base salary of \$45,519.20. The index for each assignment is to be applied to the following salary schedule, and the number of years experience in that activity in District 86 relates to the corresponding STEP level on the extra-curricular salary schedule that is set forth at the end of this Article.

HINSDALE CENTRAL & SOUTH CLUB/ACTIVITIES INDICES LISTING

CLUB/ACTIVITY	INDEX AMOUNT
ACTIVITIES DIRECTOR	0.16
AIDS AWARENESS COUNCIL	0.02
AMBASSADORS CLUB	0.06
AMERICAN FOREIGN & DOMESTIC STUDENT EXCH. CLUB [AFS]	0.10
AMNESTY INTERNATIONAL	0.04
ART CLUB	0.04
ATHLETES COMMITTED TO EXCELLENCE [A.C.E.]	0.02
BOOK CLUB	0.02
CHESS TEAM	0.10
CHORAL DIRECTOR	0.12
CITIZEN CLUB	0.04
CLASS SPONSOR/SENIORS	0.10
CLASS SPONSOR/JUNIORS	0.06
CLASS SPONSOR/SOPHOMORES	0.06
CLASS SPONSOR/FRESHMEN	0.06
COMPUTER MATH CLUB	0.03
COSMOPOLITAN CLUB	0.06
COSMOPOLITAN CLUB ASSISTANT	0.04
CROSS-CULTURE CLUB	0.04
DANCE COMPANY	0.04
DEAF DRAMA CLUB	0.06
DETENTION SUPERVISOR	0.10
DISTRIBUTIVE EDUCATION CLUB	0.04
DRAMA CLUB	0.04
DRAMA DIRECTOR-ONE PLAY	0.12
DRAMA TECHNICAL DIRECTOR-ONE PLAY	0.08
ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES	0.06
FENCING CLUB	0.02
FLAGLINE MAJORETTES	0.06
FORENSICS/SPEECH TEAM	0.14
FORENSICS/SPEECH TEAM ASSISTANT	0.10
FRENCH CLUB	0.04
FRENCH HONOR SOCIETY	0.02
FUTURE BUSINESS LEADERS OF AMERICA	0.08
FUTURE HOMEMAKERS OF AMERICA	0.04
FUTURE PROBLEMS CLUB	0.08
FUTURE SECRETARIES OF AMERICA	0.04
FUTURE TEACHERS OF AMERICA	0.04

CLUB/ACTIVITY	INDEX AMOUNT
GAUSSIANS/MATH TEAM	0.08
GAUSSIANS/MATH TEAM ASSISTANT	0.06
GERMAN CLUB	0.04
GIRLS' RESERVE	0.06
GIRLS' RESERVE ASSISTANT	0.04
GUITAR CLUB	0.04
HABITAT FOR HUMANITY	0.06
HISTORY CLUB	0.04
HORNET 101	0.04
HORNET LITERARY CLUB	0.04
INSTRUMENTAL MUSIC	0.16
INSTRUMENTAL MUSIC INSTRUMENTAL MUSIC ASSISTANT	0.10
INVESTMENT CLUB	0.08
TOTAL CONTROL OF THE	0.04
JETS	0.04
JUNIOR ILLINOIS ASSN. FOR DEAF [J.I.A.D.]	0.12
KEY CLUB	0.10
KEY CLUB ASSISTANT	0.06
LATIN CLUB	0.04
LIGHTS, SOUND, SCENERY	0.04
LITERARY PUBLICATIONS	0.08
MOCK TRIAL	0.10
MODEL U.N. PROGRAM	0.10
MODEL U.N. FROGRAM	0.08
NATIONAL ART SOCIETY	0.04
NATIONAL HONOR SOCIETY	0.10
NEWSPAPER	0.16
ODYSSEY OF THE MIND	0.06
ONE-ACT PLAY DIRECTOR	0.06
ONE-ACT PLAY TECHNICAL DIRECTOR	0.04
OPERATION SNOWBALL	0.05
OPERETTA/MUSICAL DIRECTOR	0.12
OPERETTA/MUSICAL ASST. DIRECTOR	0.06
OPERETTA/MUSICAL TECHNICAL DIRECTOR	0.10
DEED I EADEDGIID	0.00
PEER LEADERSHIP	0.08
PEERS ENCOURAGING PEERS [P.E.P.]	0.04
PEP BAND	0.03
PHOTOGRAPHY CLUB	0.04
RADIO STATION	0.16
RELAY 24 HOUR	0.04

CLUB/ACTIVITY	INDEX AMOUNT
S.A.D.D.	0.08
SCHOLASTIC BOWL	0.10
SCHOLASTIC BOWL ASSISTANT	0.06
SCIENCE OLYMPIAD	0.08
SCIENCE OLYMPIAD ASST.	0.06
SCIENCE CLUB	0.04
SHOW CHOIR	0.06
SILENT STAGE HANDS	0.04
SPANISH CLUB	0.04
SPANISH HONOR SOCIETY	0.02
S.A.D.D.	0.08
S.A.V.E.	0.04
STUDENT COUNCIL CO-SPONSORS	0.10
VARIETY SHOW DIRECTOR	0.08
VARSITY CLUB/HOMECOMING SPONSOR	0.06
VARSITY CLUB/HOMECOMING ASSISTANT	0.04
V.I.C.A.	0.04
WORLDWISE STUDENTS CLUB	0.04
YEARBOOK	0.16
YEARBOOK ASSISTANT	0.06
YOUTH & GOVERNMENT	0.06
AT 15 YEARS EXPERIENCE, INCREASE:	
INDICES .02 TO .05	0.005
INDICES .06 TO .08	0.010
INDICES .09 TO .16	0.020

11.5 Compensation for Athletics

The following index will be the basis of payment for the various athletic coaching positions listed. Newly employed/assigned coaches may be given experience credit for out-of-district coaching as recommended by the Administration. Coaching positions or sponsors assigned for less than a full season will be paid on a pro rata basis for the amount of time involved.

11.5.1 Base Salary for Athletic Coaching and Intramurals

For the 2014-15 and 2015-16 School Years, stipends will be calculated using a base salary of \$45,519.20. The index for each assignment is to be applied to the following salary schedule and the number of years coaching a sport in District 86 relates to the corresponding STEP level on the extra-curricular salary schedule that is set forth at the end of this Article.

HINSDALE CENTRAL & SOUTH ATHLETIC COACHING INDICES LISTING

SEASON/SPORT	INDEX AMOUNT	INDEX AMOUNT
FALL	Head Coach	Assistant Coach
CROSS COUNTRY [BOYS]	0.1273	0.0973
CROSS COUNTRY [GIRLS]	0.1273	0.0973
FOOTBALL	0.1473	0.1173
GOLF [BOYS]	0.1273	0.0973
GOLF [GIRLS]	0.1273	0.0973
SOCCER [BOYS]	0.1373	0.1073
SWIMMING [GIRLS]	0.1473	0.1173
TENNIS [GIRLS]	0.1373	0.1073
VOLLEYBALL [GIRLS]	0.1373	0.1073
TRAINER	0.1150	0.0950
CHEERLEADERS – FROSH	0.0473	N/A
CHEERLEADERS	0.0923	N/A
POM PONS	0.0823	N/A
POM PONS - FROSH	0.0423	N/A
WINTER		
BASKETBALL [BOYS]	0.1573	0.1273
BASKETBALL [GIRLS]	0.1573	0.1273
BOWLING [GIRLS]	0.1273	0.0973
BOWLING [BOYS]	0.1273	0.0973
GYMNASTICS [GIRLS]	0.1473	0.1173
SWIMMING [BOYS]	0.1473	0.1173
WRESTLING	0.1473	0.1173
TRAINER	0.1250	0.1050
CHEERLEADERS – FROSH	0.0573	N/A
CHEERLEADERS	0.1123	N/A
POM PONS	0.0923	N/A
POM PONS – FROSH	0.0473	N/A
<u>SPRING</u>		
BADMINTON	0.1273	0.0973
BASEBALL	0.1473	0.1173
GYMNASTICS [BOYS]	0.1473	0.1173
LaCROSSE [BOYS]	0.0973	N/A
LaCROSSE [GIRLS]	0.0973	N/A
SOCCER [GIRLS]	0.1373	0.1073
SOFTBALL	0.1373	0.1173
TENNIS [BOYS]	0.1373	0.1173
TRACK [BOYS] (a)	0.1573	0.1073
TRACK [GIRLS] (a)	0.1573	0.1273
TRAINER	0.1373	0.1273
VOLLEYBALL [BOYS]	0.1373	0.1073
WATER POLO [BOYS]	0.1273	0.0973
WATER POLO [GIRLS]	0.1273	0.0973
(a) Includes winter indoor track season		

AT 15 YEARS EXPERIENCE IN A SPECIFIC SPORT, ADD .020

11.6 <u>Compensation for Intramurals</u>

Sponsors of intramural activities will be paid at the rate of .060 of the base salary, Step 1 of the coaching salary schedule, for each intramural activity directed. After 3 years of experience directing intramurals, .01 will be added to the increment and after 6 years, .02 will be added, and after 9 years, .03 will be added.

11.7 Payments for extra-curricular assignments will be made three times a year, generally coinciding with the ends of the fall, winter and spring athletic seasons. For those clubs or activities which are continuous over a full school year, one-third of the stipend will be paid in each payment period.

<u>Intramurals</u>	
1-3 Years	0.06
4-6 Years	0.07
7-9 Years	0.08
10+ Years	0.09

EXTRA-CURRICULAR SALARY SCHEDULE

Extra-Curricular Salary Schedule

		Base Salary	
		=	
Step	Index/Salary	\$45,519.20	2014-16
1	Index Salary	1.0000	\$ 45,519.20
2	Index Salary	1.0410	\$ 47,385.49
3	Index Salary	1.0837	\$ 49,329.16
4	Index Salary	1.1281	\$ 51,350.21
5	Index Salary	1.1744	\$ 53,457.75
6	Index Salary	1.2225	\$ 55,647.22
7	Index Salary	1.2726	\$ 57,927.73
8	Index Salary	1.3248	\$ 60,303.84
9	Index Salary	1.3791	\$ 62,775.53
10	Index Salary	1.4357	\$ 65,351.92
11	Index Salary	1.4945	\$ 68,028.44
12	Index Salary	1.5558	\$ 70,818.77

ARTICLE XII Summer School

- 12.1 The summer school principal for the District shall select and assign faculty for the summer school based upon his assessment of the following:
 - 12.1.1 Requirements of the summer school program.
 - 12.1.2 Qualifications of the personnel applying for summer school staff.
 - 12.1.3 Written evaluations of Employee performance.

If the above factors are equal, preference will be given in the following order:

- 12.1.4 Teachers within each department will be given first priority for teaching courses offered by the respective department.
- 12.1.5 District Employees with prior District summer school experience.
- 12.1.6 District Employees without prior summer school experience.
- 12.1.7 Other qualified personnel.
- 12.2 Compensation for summer school employment for Employees shall be made on the following basis:

The first summer of such employment shall be at the rate of \$44.21 per hour for summer school following the 2014-2015 school year and \$44.67 per hour for summer school following the 2015-2016 school year. The second and subsequent summers with the same assignment shall be at the rate of \$53.91 per hour for summer school following the 2014-2015 school year. and \$54.48 per hour for summer school following the 2015-2016 school year. Such compensation is based on 170 hours work time at 5 hours per work day. Any other summer school assignments which are not for a total of 170 hours are to be prorated. Counselors required to perform summer work will also be paid at the hourly summer school rate for such required work.

- 12.2.1 Break time shall be provided within the 5 hour work day.
- 12.3 All compensation for summer school or for summer work shall be paid at the rate established in the Contract in effect during the school year preceding the summer in question.

12.4 Compensation for Employees for summer work assigned for driver education instruction during summer vacation, summer curriculum projects and other approved professional work, other than summer school, shall be as follows:

2014-2015	\$40.85	(Summer 2015)
2015-2016	\$41.28	(Summer 2016)

12.5 The provisions of this Article, like all other provisions of this Agreement, are only applicable to Employees who are employed during the school year as defined in Section 0.5 of this Agreement.

ARTICLE XIII Absences and Leaves

- 13.1 Full-time Employees shall receive sick leave in the amount of fourteen (14) days at full pay each School Year. Upon completion of fifteen (15) years of full-time service to the District, a full-time employee shall receive twenty-three (23) days of sick leave annually. If any such Employee does not use the full amount of the annual leave allowed, the unused annual amount may be accumulated to a maximum accumulation of four hundred and fifty (450) days sick leave at full pay. The Administration may request that use of sick leave in excess of five (5) consecutive days be certified by a licensed physician, Christian Science Practitioner, or chiropractor. Sick leave shall be interpreted to mean personal illness, quarantine at home, or serious illness or death in the immediate family or household, or birth, adoption, or placement for adoption. The immediate family for purposes of this section shall include: parents, spouse, brothers, sisters, children, grandchildren, parents-in-law, grandparents, sisters-in-law, brothers-in-law, grandparents-in-law, and legal guardians.
 - 13.1.1 If an Employee dies during the school year while actively employed, the heirs of the Employee shall have the option of converting up to 20 percent of the Employee's accumulated sick leave into paid salary, provided the number of days to be converted does not exceed the number of remaining work days in the school year.
 - 13.1.2 Sick leave may not be used in increments of less than one-half (1/2) day. One-half (1/2) day of sick leave will be deducted for an absence of four (4) hours or less. A full day of sick leave will be deducted for any absence over four (4) hours.
- 13.2 Full-time Employees shall receive two days per Contract Year of personal business leave to conduct matters which cannot be accomplished on non-school time. Such leave should be requested two days in advance of the leave day and cannot be used to extend a school vacation, provided that an Employee may be granted written permission by the Superintendent or his/her designee due to the existence of demonstrated need or emergency circumstances to use a personal business leave day immediately prior to or immediately after a school vacation. Such personal business leave shall be charged against Employee's sick leave. No more than 15% of the total number of Employees in one school may take a personal business leave on any one day.
 - 13.2.1 Personal leave may not be used in increments of less than one-half (1/2) day. One-half (1/2) day of personal leave will be deducted for an absence of four (4) hours or less. A full day of personal leave will be deducted for any absence over four (4) hours.

- 13.3 Employees will be granted a leave of absence for jury service, two week military reserve duty, or if subpoenaed to serve as a witness in a legal proceeding (not to exceed five (5) days and excluding traffic violations and proceedings in which they are a plaintiff). For non-school related proceedings in which they are a party other than as plaintiff, leave shall be limited to three (3) days. When engaged in such service, they shall receive their regular salary and sign over to the District the compensation or fees they receive for such service.
- 13.4 The Board shall grant a parental leave of absence, without pay, to Employees. Employees shall notify the Superintendent or designee in writing of the desire for the parental leave at the earliest possible time. Timing of the leave shall be cooperatively worked out with the Superintendent or designee and should coincide, if possible, with appropriate instructional periods and sequences, and the ability of the Employee to properly perform required duties. The length of the parental leave shall be a maximum of one (1) School Year beyond the School Year during which the leave commenced.

An Employee adopting, fostering, or assuming legal guardianship of a child shall be entitled, upon written request and submission of appropriate documentation, to a parental leave without pay. The Employee shall notify the Superintendent or his designee of the date the child is expected to be received. It is recognized that adoptive procedures are often lengthy and that the date of receipt of the child frequently cannot be accurately determined.

Non-tenured Employees on parental leave shall not receive service credit for tenure purposes for such leave unless the non-tenured Employee worked one-hundred and twenty (120) school days during the School Year in which a leave commences or concludes.

Any Employee shall, upon return from leave, be entitled to advancement on the salary schedule for the full School Year during which the parental leave began if the Employee was paid for at least one semester during that School Year.

- 13.4.1 Sick leave shall not be applicable during the period of the parental leave of absence. Up to thirty (30) days of accumulated sick leave may be used prior to the commencement of the parental leave for birth, adoption or placement for adoption. An Employee will be required to provide a certificate from the treating physician for the use of sick leave for birth beyond thirty (30) days. Any remaining accumulated sick leave shall be available to the teacher upon returning to employment in the District. All time that an Employee is on parental leave as opposed to being off because of a physical/medical inability to perform her duties as an Employee, shall be considered unpaid parental leave and shall not be paid as sick leave.
- 13.5 The Board may grant two days of leave without loss of pay, upon prior written request, to Employees who wish to observe religious holidays of their faith. Such leave shall not be charged against their sick leave. This leave shall not be applicable to any religious

- holiday which does not compel the teacher's absence from employment.
- 13.6 The Board may, at its discretion, grant a leave of absence, without pay, to Employees for the following reasons:
 - 13.6.1 Approved graduate study.
 - 13.6.2 Approved Employee exchange programs.
 - 13.6.3 Health, if recommended by a licensed physician.
 - 13.6.4 All applications for leaves of absences will be considered individually by the Board, upon recommendation of the Superintendent. No leave of absence granted will be for a period exceeding one year except as provided in 13.4. No leave of absence will be granted to an Employee who is not tenured. The Board will continue to make available to each Employee, while on leave of absence, the option of continuing, at Employee's expense, all types of insurance coverage granted hereunder, at full premium and at group rate.
 - 13.6.5 All applications for leaves of absences under this section must be submitted to the Superintendent no later than February 1 of the School Year previous to the School Year for which the leave of absence is requested.
 - 13.6.5.1 The Board and Association agree that the Board shall have the right to grant a leave of absence for any reason not listed in this Agreement, unpaid or paid, if the Board deems it in the best interest of the school District.
 - 13.6.6 The Employee or Employees who have submitted such requests will be notified of action taken by the Board no later than March 1 following the February 1 date in the previous paragraph. Basis of action by the Board will be included in the written notification to the Employee.
 - 13.6.7 In all cases where an application for leave of absence is approved by the Board, the applicant shall indicate in writing his intention to exercise the leave no later than March 15 of the School Year previous to the School Year for which the leave of absence is requested.
 - 13.6.8 An Employee who has been granted a leave of absence shall notify the Superintendent, in writing, no later than February 1 of the year ending the leave of absence, of his intention to resume employment in the District.
 - 13.6.9 An Employee returning from a leave of absence shall return to an equivalent position, but not necessarily to the specific assignment held when leave of absence was granted, provided Employee qualified under Article VI.

- 13.7 Emergency Leave may be approved retroactively for absences outside the control of the Employee, upon submission by the Employee, immediately upon return to duty, of the specific circumstances which necessitated the absence. Said circumstances must be serious in nature, unknown in advance, and occur without sufficient notice to use the preapproval procedure. All Emergency Leave days will be deducted from sick leave.
- 13.8 Sick Leave Bank. The Board in cooperation with the Association shall establish a Sick Leave Bank on a voluntary basis.
 - 13.8.1 The intent of this plan is to provide extended sick leave to those participants who incur a major disability or major illness which requires continuous and prolonged absence from work. The Bank shall be used only for the personal disability or illness of the participant and not for serious illness or death of any other person.
 - 13.8.2 A teacher may enroll in the Bank by signing an authorization form agreeing to contribute one (1) day of his/her sick leave to the Bank at the beginning of each year. Provided at least eighty percent (80%) of the teachers agree to contribute one day to the Bank at the beginning of the 1990-91 school year, the Board shall contribute on a one-time basis only fifty (50) days to the Bank. When the total number of days in the Bank equals twice the number of participants no yearly contribution will be required until the Bank is depleted to the number of days equal to the number of participants.
 - 13.8.3 A teacher who is a current participant and who has a major disability or major illness which requires continuous and prolonged absence from work shall be able to utilize days from the Bank after his/her own accrued sick leave days have been depleted and a five day salary deduction period has transpired for each such disability or illness.
 - 13.8.4 The maximum number of days allowed for any single illness shall be sixty (60) days.
 - 13.8.5 Participants utilizing sick leave days from the Bank will not be required to replace those days.
 - 13.8.6 A participant withdrawing from the Bank or the bargaining unit for whatever reason, will not be allowed to withdraw the contributed days.
 - 13.8.7 A committee appointed by the Association shall serve as an Advisory Board to the Administration to implement and administer the Bank. With the approval of the Administration, this Advisory Board may, upon emergency, request that contributing members donate an additional day to the Sick Leave Bank if its reserves become depleted or grant an extension of days beyond the maximum limit referred to in 13.8.4 above. If a participant does not have a sick leave day to contribute during the current school year, the sick leave day will be contributed at the beginning of the next school year without any lapse in Sick Leave Bank eligibility.

- 13.8.8 A teacher who has exhausted all leave time (sick days and personal days) may request up to five (5) days of bereavement leave for the death of an immediate family member (spouse, child, parent, brother, or sister). Granted leave will commence without the normally required five (5) day deduct qualifying period.
- 13.8.9 Certificated personnel who are excluded from the bargaining unit may participate in this Sick Leave Bank on the same terms and conditions as certificated personnel who are included in the bargaining unit.
- 13.9 Job Sharing Leave. Job sharing as defined in this section is a voluntary program providing two (2) tenure teachers in the same department the opportunity to propose the sharing of one (1) full-time teaching position. Tenured teachers who would like to participate in a job sharing position shall submit an application and proposed plan for a job sharing leave to the Superintendent by February 1 of the year preceding the school year for which the leave is requested. The job sharing plan shall include, but not be limited to, teaching responsibilities, schedule of work hours and/or days, attendance at staff meetings, in-service days and other teaching responsibilities. All the elements of the plan shall be consistent with the provisions of this Agreement. The Board shall notify the applicants of its disposition of the request by June 1 following the request.

Participants in job sharing positions shall be placed appropriately on the teachers' salary schedule and salaries shall be pro-rated according to the time worked. Contributions to the Teachers' Retirement System shall be pro-rated according to the time worked. Participants in job sharing positions shall receive salary step advancement at the start of the school year following the accumulation of the equivalent of .6 or more of a year of full-time service.

The length of a job sharing leave shall be for one (1) school year and may be renewed by the Board, provided that a request to renew must be made by February 1 by the participants and if such a request is made, the Board shall notify the participants of its disposition of the request by June 1 following the request. Participants in job sharing positions shall be considered on a leave of absence for that portion of the school work hours and/or days that they are not working.

Teachers participating in the job sharing program as set forth in this section shall accrue seniority points under 6.1.2.1 and 6.1.2.2 in proportion to the time worked.

Participants in job sharing positions will be responsible for the cost of their own fringe benefits on a pro-rata basis.

Participants in a job sharing program shall submit written notice of their intent to return to full-time employment by February 1. Upon return, the teacher(s) shall be returned to his/her former position, seniority permitting, if the position still exists or to a mutually agreed upon position. Such return rights shall be applicable for one (1) year. If the leave extends for more than one (1) year, the teacher shall be returned to a comparable position, if available, upon his/her return to full-time employment.

- 13.10 <u>Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993.</u> The parties agree that the Employer may adopt policies to implement the Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993 and are in accord with what is legally permissible under the Act.
- 13.11 Any employee who has been denied a request for a part time teaching position shall have 30 days from the date of notice of such denial to apply for a leave of absence of no less than one school year.

ARTICLE XIV Grievances

- 14.1 A grievance is defined as a complaint by an Employee or the Association that there has been a violation of a specific provision of this Contract. In the event an Employee or the Association believes that there has been such a violation by the Board or Administration, the Employee or the Association shall initiate the following procedure no later than the twentieth (20th) working day following the first occurrence of the alleged violation or no later than the twentieth (20th) working day after the Employee or the Association, through the use of reasonable diligence, obtained or should have obtained knowledge of the first occurrence of the alleged violation.
- 14.2 The parties acknowledge that it is most desirable to an Employee and the Employee's building principal to resolve problems through free and informal communications. If, however, the informal process fails to satisfy the Employee, a grievance may be processed as follows:
 - 14.2.1 <u>STEP I</u> If the grievance is not resolved informally under 14.2, the Employee, or the Association, shall present the grievance in writing to the appropriate building principal within ten (10) working days after informally attempting to resolve the matter under 14.2. The written grievance shall specify the section or sections of this Contract which are allegedly violated, the full facts on which the grievance is based, and the specific relief requested. Within ten (10) working days thereafter, a meeting shall be held between the grievant, an Association representative if requested by the grievant, and the appropriate building principal. The appropriate building principal shall provide the grievant with a written response to the grievance, including the reason(s) for the decision, within five (5) working days after such meeting.
 - 14.2.2 <u>STEP II</u> If the grievance is not resolved at Step I, it may be submitted by the Employee in writing to the Superintendent within ten (10) working days after receipt of the building principal's written reply. Within ten (10) working days thereafter, a meeting shall be held between the grievant, an Association representative, the Superintendent or his/her designee, and other appropriate administrative personnel. The Superintendent or his/her designee shall provide the grievant and the Association with a written response to the grievance, including the reason(s) for the decision, within ten (10) working days after such meeting.

- 14.2.3 <u>STEP III</u> If the grievance is not resolved at Step II, the Association may refer the grievance to arbitration within fifteen (15) working days after receipt of the reply at Step II by notifying the Superintendent in writing.
 - 14.2.3.1 If the grievance is appealed to arbitration in timely fashion by the Association, the parties shall attempt to agree upon an arbitrator within five (5) working days after receipt of the notice of referral. In the event the parties are unable to agree upon an arbitrator within said five (5) day period, the parties shall immediately jointly request the American Arbitration Association to submit a panel of five (5) arbitrators. Both the Association and the Board shall have the right to strike two (2) names from the panel. The party requesting arbitration shall strike the first two names; the other party shall then strike two names.
 - 14.2.3.2 The arbitrator shall be notified of his/her selection and shall be requested to set a time and place for the hearing, subject to the availability of Association and Board representatives.
 - 14.2.3.3 Each party retains the right to reject one panel in its entirety and request that a new panel be submitted. More than one grievance may be submitted to the same arbitrator if both parties mutually agree in writing.
 - 14.2.3.4 The arbitrator shall submit his/ her decision in writing within thirty (30) calendar days following the close of the hearing or the submission of briefs by the parties, whichever is later, unless the parties mutually agree to an extension.
 - 14.2.3.5 The arbitrator shall not amend, modify, nullify, ignore or add to the provisions of this Contract. The arbitrator's authority shall be strictly limited to deciding only the issue presented in the written grievance and his/her decision must be based solely upon his/her interpretation of the meaning or application of the specific article of this Contract which has been allegedly violated. The decision of the arbitrator, if made in accordance with the jurisdiction and authority granted to the arbitrator pursuant to this Contract, shall be accepted as final by the Board, the Association, and the grievant, and all parties shall abide by it.
 - 14.2.3.6 The fees and expenses of the arbitrator, including the cost of a written official transcript if requested by both parties, shall be divided equally between the Board and the Association; provided, however, that each party shall be responsible for compensating its own representatives and witnesses. If both parties have agreed to divide the cost of the official transcript, it shall be copied "in-house" and a copy made available to each party.

- 14.3 Failure at any step of this procedure to appeal a grievance to the next step within the specified time limits shall be considered acceptance of the decision rendered at that step. Failure at any step of this procedure to communicate a decision on a grievance within the specified time limits shall permit the grievant to proceed to the next step. The parties may mutually agree in writing to extend any of the time limits set forth in this Article.
- 14.4 The term "working days" as used in this Article shall mean Employee attendance days; provided, however, that between the last Employee attendance day of the school year and the first Employee attendance day of the next school year (i.e., over summer vacation), the term "working days" shall mean week days (exclusive of week days recognized and observed by the District as holidays).
- 14.5 Should the holding of the meeting to discuss the grievance at either Step I or Step II occur during normal working hours, the grievant and/or the Association representative shall be released from his/her regular assignment without loss of pay or benefits for the purpose of attending such meeting.
- 14.6 If the grievant, the Association, and the Superintendent agree, Step I of the grievance procedure may be bypassed and the grievance presented directly at Step II.
- 14.7 Neither the Board nor the Association shall take reprisals against any Employee because of the Employee's participation or refusal to participate in the processing of a grievance pursuant to the provisions of this Article.

ARTICLE XV Employee Fringe Benefits

- 15.1 All Employees who are regularly assigned a minimum of four hours a day shall receive the following fringe benefits as set forth in the applicable policy.
 - 15.1.1 Life Insurance, Accidental Death and Dismemberment
 - 15.1.1.1 Any Employee not electing dependent coverage for the comprehensive hospital and medical-surgical programs will receive term insurance in an amount equal to twice his/her annual base salary rounded to the next higher thousand dollars.
 - 15.1.1.2 All Employees shall be given the option of receiving either the amount of term insurance specified above or the maximum amount of life insurance he/she may receive without being required to include the premiums for such insurance as taxable income.
 - 15.1.2 Comprehensive Hospital and Medical-Surgical Programs
 - 15.1.2.1 The Comprehensive Hospital and Medical-Surgical Program in effect as of January 1, 2010 shall be continued during the term of this Agreement, provided that the changes noted in the Summaries of Benefits found on the District intranet website shall be implemented effective January 1, 2011 and January 1, 2012 respectively. In addition, an HMO will be made available to Employees.
 - 15.1.3 Major Medical Insurance
 - 15.1.4 Prescription Drug Insurance
 - 15.1.5 Long-Term Disability Insurance
 - 15.1.5.1 The maximum benefit for disability insurance shall be 60% of base salary with a \$10,000 per month cap.
 - 15.1.6 Specified Disease Insurance
 - 15.1.7 Dental Insurance
 - 15.1.8 The Board and the Association shall establish an on-going Insurance Committee. Membership on the Insurance Committee shall be four Board members and/or administrators appointed by the President of the Board and four teachers appointed by the President of the Association and representatives from non-bargaining groups. The Insurance Committee shall meet at least quarterly and may hold additional meetings as agreed by members of the Insurance Committee.

Responsibilities of the Insurance Committee shall include monitoring the insurance plan and its usage, making recommendations regarding plan specifications and design changes, and conducting an employee education program aimed at making employees more knowledgeable consumers of health care. The Insurance Committee may make recommendations to the Board and the Association regarding provisions of the medical insurance plan. No changes will be made in the medical insurance plan without the express approval of both the Board and the Association.

15.2 Each Employee whose base salary is \$43,000 (TRS included) or more shall pay the following amount per month for the coverage selected for the insurance benefits specified in 15.1.1 through 15.1.6:

Effective Date	Percentage of Premium Equivalent Rate
January 1, 2015	Fifteen Percent (15%)
January 1, 2016	Eighteen Percent (18%)

For dental insurance as specified in 15.1.7, an Employee shall pay the following amount per month:

Effective Date	Percentage of Premium Equivalent Rate
January 1, 2015	Fifteen Percent (15%)
January 1, 2016	Eighteen Percent (18%)

Except where both spouses are employed by District 86, an Employee shall pay \$25.00 per month for spouses who are able to obtain health insurance from their employer. Should an employee misrepresent his/her spouse's ability to obtain health insurance from another employer, the employee will be required to reimburse the Board for the cost of insuring his/her spouse and shall be subject to discipline.

- 15.3 The aforesaid fringe benefits may be increased, decreased, deleted or added to provided such change is specified in writing and ratified by both the Board and the Association. Such ratified changes shall become effective upon issuance of the policy by the insurer making such changes effective.
- 15.4 An Employee who is disabled while regularly employed by the Board may, at his option, continue to be designated an Employee of the District for the duration of his disability, until normal retirement age, to permit the Employee to be able to continue long-term disability and hospital insurance under any group plan of the District, but such designation shall be solely for said purpose of insurance continuation only and shall not impose any other different, additional or continuing liability on the District. The cost of such insurance during the period of disability shall be borne by the Employee.
 - 15.4.1 An Employee disabled while non-negligently performing assigned duties shall be designated an Employee under Article XV for the duration of the disability and shall be able to continue long-term disability and hospital insurance under any group plan of the District, and shall receive any other different or additional

benefits. The Employee shall receive all benefits for his/her family and spouse under the hospital insurance plan providing they were initially covered prior to the time of disability and continued Employee contribution as specified in 15.2.

15.5 The provisions of this Article will be in effect through August 31 of each Calendar Year as part of the compensation for services rendered.

15.6 Teacher Retirement System Contribution

Starting July 1, 2013, the Board shall deduct from each Employee's salary (as salary is defined by the Teacher Retirement System) the required member TRS retirement contribution and member THIS contribution, and remit the contribution to the Teachers' Retirement System of the State of Illinois on behalf of the Employee to be applied for the retirement account of such Employee. It is the intent of the parties by this Agreement to qualify these payments as employer payments under Section 414(h) of the Internal Revenue Code. The Employees have no right or claim to the fund so remitted except as they may subsequently become available upon retirement or resignation from the Teachers' Retirement System.

Any amounts due each Employee pursuant to this Agreement shall be payable to the Employee as salary in installments as otherwise provided herein, provided the Board shall deduct therefrom all monies as required by law or as authorized by the Employee pursuant to this Agreement, or as otherwise authorized by the Board. Such withholding from Employee compensation shall include any and all member contribution required to be paid by Employees to the Teachers' Retirement System for the account of such Employee.

The Association and each Employee will indemnify and hold harmless the Board of Education, its members, its agents, and its employees from any and all claims, demands, actions, complaints, suits or other liability by reason of a faithful payment of contributions to the Teachers' Retirement System pursuant to the provisions of this Section. No claim, demand, action, or suit shall be settled or compromised in any manner without the express written consent of both parties.

ARTICLE XVI Supplemental Retirement Program

16.1 Eligibility

A retirement program shall be available for the duration this Agreement for the Employees who meet all of the following eligibility criteria:

- 16.1.1 Completed at least 15 years of full time, or its equivalent, teacher service in the District.
- 16.1.2 Meet one (1) of the following requirements:
 - 16.1.2.1 Are age of 55 or older on the last day of employment; or
 - 16.1.2.2 Are less than age 55 on the last day of employment and then turn 55 within six (6) months of the end of the contract year.
- 16.1.3 Have filed for participation in the retirement program of TRS with a retirement date no later than June 30, 2019, provided, however, that this retirement program shall not be available to any Employee who elects to participate in the Modified Early Retirement Option (M.E.R.O., i.e. less than age 60 or less than 35 years of TRS service), or any other TRS program which requires an employer/Board contribution or penalty, or if a penalty will be due from the District for exceeding the 6% salary increase limitation.
- 16.1.4 Submitted a Letter of Intent to Retire as required below.

16.2 Procedures

In order to be eligible to participate in this retirement program, an Employee must submit an irrevocable letter of intent to retire to the Superintendent, setting forth a desired retirement date at the end of a school year not later than June 30, 2019. This letter of intent to retire must be received by the Superintendent before January 1 of any fiscal year of this Agreement. An Employee who fails to meet the eligibility requirements above prior to the effective retirement date (e.g. elects M.E.R.O.) shall be required to reimburse the District for the value of all salary and benefits received under this retirement program that exceed what the Employee would have otherwise earned had he or she not participated in this retirement program. The administration, with input from the Employee, will develop a repayment plan of deductions from the Employee's remaining paychecks.

Retirement Notice Dates

Submit letter no later than	Retire at the end of the School Year, no later than
January 1, 2015	June 30, 2018
January 1, 2016	June 30, 2019

16.3 Benefit

16.3.1 Stipend

As a voluntary retirement benefit for Employees who qualify as provided above, the Board agrees to increase the Employee's TRS creditable earnings by 3% over the Employee's prior year's reported TRS creditable earnings for each remaining year of the Employee's employment in the District, in lieu of any other raise or step the Employee may otherwise have been entitled to. This increase will be granted beginning in the school year in which the Employee gives notice as provided above. A retiring Employee may receive no more than four (4) years of 3% creditable earnings increases under this program. An Employee participating in this program shall receive no increase in base salary.

An Employee for whom an extra-duty stipend or additional creditable earnings (e.g., coaching, activities, game worker, or summer curriculum, etc.) was part of the Employee's creditable earnings in the school year prior to the school year in which notice is given and who ceases to perform such duty in any year prior to retirement will have the stipend/earnings for that duty subtracted from the creditable earnings increases provided under this program for each remaining year. Under no circumstances may an Employee participating in this program receive a non-exempt creditable earnings increase exceeding 6% over the Employee's prior year's creditable earnings due to increases in new stipends from coaching activities, summer school, or other extra duty pay. Creditable earnings that are exempt from the TRS rules are not limited.

16.3.2 Post-Retirement Health Insurance Options

An eligible Employee may elect only ONE of the following options:

Option 1

The Board will reimburse the retiree for 100% of the Teachers Retirement Insurance Program ("TRIP") premium for the retiree and up to one-half of a dependent. Said payments by the Board will be in the form of reimbursement to the retiree made only after proof of payment by the individual retiree and shall not be made directly to the Illinois Downstate Teachers' Retirement System. The retiree will also be allowed to continue participation in the District's dental plan, receiving a maximum of \$\$1,500 per year in benefits in accordance with the plan.

These Option 1 benefits will be available for ten (10) years or until the retiree becomes Medicare eligible, whichever occurs first.

Option 2

The retiree may remain in the District's health insurance plan in which he/she was enrolled at the time of retirement, up to ten years or until the retiree is Medicare eligible, whichever occurs first. The retiree must pay 70% of the required premium for the coverage selected. The retiree will also be allowed to continue participation in the District's dental plan, at the current active employee rate, receiving a maximum of \$1,500 per year in benefits in accordance with the plan.

These Option 2 benefits will be available for ten (10) years or until the retiree becomes Medicare eligible, whichever occurs first. At anytime during this period, the retiree may elect to change to the post-retirement health insurance benefits provided in Option 1 for the remainder of the period.

16.4 Program Duration

The application for the retirement program, as set forth in this Article, shall only be available for the duration of this Agreement. In order to receive the benefits set forth in this Article, an Employee must elect to retire effective no later than June 30, 2019. Participating Employees who elect to retire under the provisions of this Article and not later than June 30, 2019, will receive the benefits of and only the benefits of this program. Regardless of the participation and experience in the implementation of this Agreement, in no event shall this Agreement create an expectancy of a property interest among staff members, who have not submitted an irrevocable letter of intent to retire to the Superintendent by January 1, 2016, nor shall the same be regarded as a policy, custom, practice, or contractual agreement between the parties beyond such date. Nothing in this Agreement, however, shall be deemed to prohibit the parties from mutually agreeing to amend this Agreement or to continue this Agreement during or after the term of this Agreement.

ARTICLE XVII Miscellaneous

- 17.1 Any Employee who desires to have a deduction made from his pay for dues to the NEA, IEA and/or Association shall file with the business office a written authorization for such deduction on the form prescribed by the Administration.
 - 17.1.1 The President of the Association will notify the Administration in writing prior to September 30 the amount of dues for each of said organizations.
 - 17.1.2 Deductions will be made from the pay as authorized beginning with the next regular pay due Employee, normal District business operations permitting. Such deduction will be pro-rated over the remaining pay periods for such School Year. Amounts withheld shall be forwarded to the organizations as soon thereafter as normal District business operations will permit.
 - 17.1.3 The Association shall completely indemnify the Board for any losses or damages it may incur because of the deductions made in accordance with 17.1.
- 17.2 Payroll deductions for the DuPage Schools Credit Union and tax shelter annuities will be made if properly authorized by the Employee. Deductions will be made as soon after the filing of the authorization as normal District business operations permit. Amounts withheld will be forwarded to the authorized organization as soon thereafter as normal District business operations permit.
- 17.3 Employees shall be notified prior to the end of the School Year of their tentative teaching assignments for the following School Year. It is understood that the assignments may be changed by the Administration.
 - 17.4 Americans with Disabilities Act. The parties agree that the District may, notwithstanding any other provisions of this Agreement, take action that is in accord with what is legally permissible under the Act in order to be in compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act.

ARTICLE XVIII Assaults Upon Employees

- 18.1 Employees who suffer an assault during the performance of their assigned duties or on District 86 property shall report such assault in writing to the Superintendent, who shall immediately report the incident to the local law enforcement authorities and to the Department of State Police Uniform Crime Reporting Program no later than three (3) days after the occurrence of the assault.
- 18.2 The Board will indemnify Employees against civil rights damage claims and suits, constitutional rights damage claims and suits, and death and bodily injury and property damage claims and suits, including the defense of all of the same, when damages are sought for negligent or wrongful acts alleged to have been committed within the scope of an Employee's employment or under direction of the Board.
- 18.3 In the event of any assault upon an Employee during the performance of assigned duties, the Board shall reimburse Employee for the reasonable value of any clothing or other personal property damaged or destroyed during such assault.
- 18.4 Upon request, the Board will supply an Employee's survivor with advice on the benefits due the survivor.

ARTICLE XIX Evaluation

- 19.1 If it becomes necessary to change the District's Teacher Evaluation Plan concerning Employees, e.g., changes in definitions of ratings, changes in job description of a teacher, changes in evaluation forms and changes in the remediation plan, the Association and Administration will work cooperatively to achieve these changes.
- 19.2 If the Employee disagrees with the written evaluation, the Employee may submit a written response within twenty (20) working days of the Employee's receipt of the evaluation and any such written response shall be attached to the file copy of the evaluation in question.
 - 19.2.1 If a tenured Employee submits a timely written response as provided above and at the same time specifically requests an evaluation by a different evaluator, the next evaluation shall be done by a different evaluator selected by the Administration. This right may not be exercised more than once per year or during the period of formal remediation as set forth in the Teacher Evaluation Plan. A timely request for an evaluation by a different evaluator shall not be construed to prohibit or postpone the Board's right to take action (e.g., the issuance of a rating) on the basis of the evaluation(s) already on file.
- 19.3 Each Principal or his designee will hold a minimum of three evaluation conferences with each non-tenured Employee in his building every school year.
- 19.4 Employee evaluations, including any related ratings, shall not be subject to the grievance and arbitration procedure set forth in this Agreement.

ARTICLE XX Severability

Should any article, section or clause of this Agreement be declared illegal by a court of last resort, said article, section or clause, as the case may be, shall be automatically deleted from this Agreement to the extent that it violated the law. The remaining articles, sections and clauses shall remain in full force and effect for the duration of the Agreement if not affected by the deleted article, section or clause.

ARTICLE XXI Vacancies, Promotions, Transfers

- 21.1 The Superintendent shall have posted on the District website a notice by job title of all vacancies of regular and administrative staff positions and compensated extra-curricular positions which occur in the District during the School Year.
 - 21.1.1 All vacancy notices for regular and administrative staff positions shall set forth the minimum qualifications and the application procedure.
 - 21.1.2 Notices shall be posted on the District website not later than five (5) working days following the Board's action creating the new position or the Board's decision to fill a vacancy after acceptance of a resignation.
 - 21.1.3 Such vacancies shall not be filled permanently until at least five (5) working days after the posting required in 21.1.
 - 21.1.4 Nothing in this Article shall be construed to obligate or require the Board to fill a vacant position.
 - 21.1.5 This provision shall not apply to vacancies occurring after August 15 for the following School Year.
- 21.2 Job vacancies arising during the summer vacation shall also be posted on the District website.
- 21.3 Any Employee presently on tenure or eligible for continuing contractual status in the coming school term may apply for transfer to another building where a vacancy exists by submitting a written application to the Personnel Office.
 - 21.3.1 When the District determines it is necessary to transfer an Employee within the District, the Administration shall first ask for and consider qualified volunteers to effectuate the transfer.
 - 21.3.2 Any Employee involuntarily transferred to another building or another department shall be notified of such transfer as promptly as possible after the decision has been finalized.
- An Employee who has been involuntarily transferred to another building shall be given first consideration in filling any vacancies that may arise in the building from which the Employee was involuntarily transferred. If the request is denied and the Employee requests in writing the reason for such a decision, the Administration shall advise the Employee in writing of the reason(s) for such decision within fifteen (15) working days after receipt of the written request.

- Such decision shall be grievable according to the provisions of Article XIV up to but not including the arbitration step. There shall be no blanket prohibition by the Board or the Administration against transfers between the buildings.
- 21.5 Sections 21.1, 21.2, 21.3, and 21.4 shall not be applicable to vacancies caused by Employees who fail to give the District notice of resignation as required by law.
- 21.6 The traveling Employee's home school and department chair will be determined each year by the Superintendent. Where practical, an effort will be made to accommodate any reasonable request(s) made by the traveling Employee.

ARTICLE XXII Entire Agreement

The parties acknowledge that, during the negotiations which resulted in this Agreement each had the unlimited right and opportunity to make demands and proposals with respect to any subject or matter not removed by law from the area of collective bargaining, and that the understandings and agreements arrived at by the parties after the exercise of that right and opportunity are set forth in this Agreement. Therefore, the Board and the Association, for the duration of this Agreement, (except as provided elsewhere in this Agreement) each voluntarily and unqualifiedly waives the right, and each agrees that the other shall not be obligated, to bargain collectively with respect to any subject or matter referred to, or covered by this Agreement, including the impact of the Board's exercise of its rights as set forth herein on wages, hours or terms and conditions of employment.

ARTICLE XXIII Board Rights

- 23.1 The Board, on behalf of the electors of the District, retains and reserves the ultimate responsibility for the proper management of the District, including but not limited to the responsibility for and the right to:
 - 23.1.1 Maintain executive management and administrative control of the District and its properties and facilities and the activities of its Employees as related to the conduct of District affairs.
 - 23.1.2 Hire all Employees and, subject to provisions of law, to determine their qualifications, and the conditions for their continued employment, or their dismissal (subject to the statutory provisions governing dismissal) and to evaluate, promote and transfer all such Employees.
 - 23.1.3 Establish, modify or eliminate courses of instruction, including special programs, and athletic, recreational and social events for students, all as deemed necessary or advisable by the Board.
 - 23.1.4 Delegate authority through recognized administrative channels for the development and organization of the means and methods of instruction according to current Board policy or as the same may from time to time be amended.
 - 23.1.5 Determine class schedules, non-classroom assignments, the hours of instruction, and the duties, responsibilities, and assignment of those in the bargaining unit.
- 23.2 The exercise of the foregoing powers, rights, authorities, duties and responsibilities by the Board, and the adoption of policies, rules, regulations and practices in furtherance thereof, shall be limited only by the specific and express terms of this Agreement.
- 23.3 Nothing contained herein shall be construed to deny or restrict the Board of its rights, responsibilities, and authority under the Illinois School Code or any other national or local laws or regulations as they pertain to education.

SIDE LETTER

If the Board decides to seek a waiver of Illinois School Code provisions pursuant to the applicable provisions of 105 ILCS 5/2-3.25g that directly affect the terms and conditions of employment of Employees, it shall notify the Association. The Association shall be advised at least seven (7) days prior to any meeting of the Board where the Board will consider any such waiver request.